067  
**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 21 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA-HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY  
EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY,

Petitioner,

vs.

A.G.W.S. CORPORATION,

Respondent.

---

CASE NO.: 80,656

TAMPA-HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY  
EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY,

Petitioner,

vs.

DUNDEE DEVELOPMENT GROUP,  
a Florida General Partnership,

Respondent.

---

---

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

---

WILLIAM C. McLEAN, JR.  
General Counsel  
Tampa-Hillsborough County  
Expressway Authority  
FL BAR ID # 053393  
707 Florida Avenue  
Tampa, Florida 33602  
Phone: (813)223-4785

Co-Counsel for Petitioner

THORNTON J. WILLIAMS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

THE TAMPA-HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY, the defendant below and petitioner here, will be referred to as the "EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY". A.G.W.S. CORPORATION, a plaintiff below and respondent here, will be referred to as "A.G.W.S.". DUNDEE DEVELOPMENT GROUP, a plaintiff below and respondent here, will be referred to as "DUNDEE". STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, will be referred to as "FDOT".

Citations to the Appendix to this brief will be indicated parenthetically as "A" with the appropriate page number(s).



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves two consolidated cases. The procedural history for each is similar, but not identical. Accordingly, each case will be discussed separately below.

A.G.W.S.

A.G.W.S. initiated an inverse condemnation action by filing a complaint alleging that a map of reservation was filed by the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY which encompassed a portion of A.G.W.S.'s property and resulted in a "taking." (A 36-43) A.G.W.S. alleged several different types of takings theories in the complaint. (A 38-40) The complaint was amended to include the allegation that the property was subject to a mortgage. In response to the Amended Complaint, the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY filed a Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike the Amended Complaint arguing that paragraphs 7-12 of the Amended Complaint contained legal conclusions rather than plain statements of ultimate facts. (A 61-63) The Motion to Dismiss also argued that the mortgage holder should be named as a real party in interest in this suit. (A 62)

A.G.W.S. filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that this Court's opinion in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990) resolved the "taking" issue as a matter of law and A.G.W.S. is entitled to summary judgment on the "taking" issue. (A 64-67) After a hearing on A.G.W.S.'s Motion for Summary Judgment and the EXPRESSWAY

AUTHORITY's Motion to Dismiss, the trial court granted summary judgment on the "taking" issue and denied the Motion to Dismiss. (A 68-70) An appeal was timely taken to the Second District Court of Appeal.

#### DUNDEE

DUNDEE initiated an inverse condemnation action by filing a complaint alleging that a map of reservation was filed by the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY which encompassed a portion of DUNDEE's property and resulted in a "taking." (A 1-8) In response to the Complaint, the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY filed a Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike the Complaint arguing that paragraphs 7-13 of the Complaint contained legal conclusions rather than plain statements of ultimate facts. (A 18-19)

DUNDEE filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that this Court's opinion in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990) resolved the "taking" issue as a matter of law and DUNDEE is entitled to summary judgment on the "taking" issue. (A 20-22) The EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY filed an Affidavit in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (A 23-24) After a hearing on DUNDEE's Motion for Summary Judgment and the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY's Motion to Dismiss, the trial court granted summary judgment on the "taking" issue and denied the Motion to Dismiss. (A 33-35) An appeal was timely taken to the

Second District Court of Appeal.

The two appeals were consolidated in the Second District Court of Appeal. After a full briefing by the parties, the Second District Court of Appeal reviewed the cases without oral argument and entered its opinion affirming the finding of a taking, citing to the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W & F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, LTD, 582 So.2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) review denied. 591 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1991). (A 71-75)

The Second District also certified the following question to this Court:

WHETHER ALL LANDOWNERS WITH PROPERTY INSIDE THE BOUNDARIES OF INVALIDATED MAPS OF RESERVATION UNDER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED TO RECEIVE PER SE DECLARATIONS OF TAKING AND JURY TRIALS TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.

Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corporation, Case No.: 92-00065 Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. Dundee Development Group, Case No.: 91-03263. Consolidated (Fla. 2nd DCA September 23, 1992) [17 FLW D2232].

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts in these cases have not been fully developed due to the trial courts' granting of summary judgment soon after the cases were filed. The admissible evidence before the trial courts at the time of the hearing on the motion for summary judgement was: the certified deeds, mortgage, and maps of reservation attached to the unverified complaints, and the Affidavit in opposition to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment filed in DUNDEE. Again, each case will be discussed separately below.

### A.G.W.S.

A.G.W.S. took title to 38.8 acres by warranty deed in September 1985. (A 44) On July 8, 1988, the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY filed a map of reservation pursuant to §337.241, Florida Statutes (1988) for the Northwest Expressway Project. (A 58-60) Attached to the complaint were certified copies of sheet number 14 and 15 of the map of reservation, which A.G.W.S. alleges encompassed portions of its property.

While A.G.W.S. made other factual allegations in the Amended Complaint, no evidence was presented by A.G.W.S. in support of its claim. On July 27, 1990, this Court's opinion in Joint Ventures became final, invalidating all maps of reservation filed pursuant to §337.241, Florida Statutes (1987).

DUNDEE

On May 9, 1988 DUNDEE took title to approximately 203 acres of land from Dundee Ranch, Inc. (A 9-11) An unauthenticated survey filed with the Complaint bears a preparation date of March 15, 1988 and shows a line labeled "proposed southerly right-of-way line Northwest Hillsborough Expressway," clipping a small corner of DUNDEE's parcel "B" in the upper left hand corner of the survey.

(A 14) On July 8, 1988 the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY filed a map of reservation for the Northwest Hillsborough Expressway project, which DUNDEE alleges encompassed a portion of its property. Attached to the Complaint were certified copies of Sheets 1, 18 and 19 of the map of reservation. (A 15-17) On July 15, 1988, DUNDEE took title to Parcel "C" of its property, containing approximately 2.75 acres. (A 12-13)

The portion of DUNDEE's land reserved by the map of reservation was described as "...vacant improved, pasture lands currently used for agricultural purposes." (A 23) It is uncontroverted that neither the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY nor any of its agents physically took or possessed any of DUNDEE's property or denied DUNDEE "...its sole, continuous and exclusive occupancy and enjoyment of the property reserved by the Map of Reservation." (A 23-24)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature enacted the map of reservation statute as a planning tool. Numerous maps were filed pursuant to the presumptively valid statute. This Court found the statute facially unconstitutional for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990). ("Joint Ventures II") All maps in the state were invalidated by the decision.

Subsequent to this Court's decision, numerous property owners have sought compensation for a temporary "taking" of their property during the effective dates of the invalidated maps of reservation. These cases fall into four distinct categories: cases involving property specifically exempted from the regulation of the statute; cases involving property already developed to its highest and best use; cases involving property with unknown development potential or plans; cases involving property that was in the process of being developed and the map of reservation proximately caused cessation of the development.

The District Courts of Appeal have construed this Court's Decision in Joint Ventures II as establishing a per se "taking" rule for all maps of reservation. To the contrary, no case in regulatory takings jurisprudence (including Joint Ventures II) has adopted a per se rule of compensation for cases where the regulation is stricken for failing to substantially advance a

legitimate state interest. A per se approach is only applied in cases of a physical invasion or denial of all economically viable use.

Neither this Court's jurisprudence nor the United States Supreme Court's jurisprudence supports a per se rule for map of reservation cases. No other federal or state jurisprudence supports such a rule.

The Fifth District overshot the mark in its attempt to fashion a remedy for unconstitutional maps of reservation. The court, in Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W. & F. Agrigrowth, 582 So.2d 790 (5th DCA), review denied, 591 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1991), established a per se rule of law which holds that the mere filing of a map of reservation constitutes a "temporary taking" of any property covered by that map of reservation. This is true, under W & F Agrigrowth, regardless of whether the damages caused by the taking are large, small, or non-existent. In other words, the filing of a map of reservation is synonymous with "taking of property."

The per se rule of W & F Agrigrowth is an irrebuttable or conclusive presumption of a "taking." Irrebuttable presumptions are constitutionally disfavored because they preclude individualized determinations of the facts upon which substantial rights or obligations may depend. These presumptions operate to deny the party against whom they are directed a fair opportunity to

rebut them.

Consequently, in the instant cases, the irrebuttable presumption of a "taking" closed the courtroom door in the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY's face when the question of liability was being considered. The operation of this rule deprived the EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY of its rights under the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of both the Federal and Florida State Constitutions to fairly present evidence in its own defense. Furthermore, the enforcement of such a rule of absolute liability effectively denied the Appellant the right to full access to the courts as guaranteed by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

A case by case analysis of map of reservation cases balances the competing interests of individual rights and our democratic form of government. Such an analysis allows both parties their day in court. Property owners whose property was exempted from regulation or already developed to its highest and best use would not be awarded compensation. Property owners whose property was in the process of being developed and the map of reservation proximately caused a temporary cessation of development will be provided compensation. The state's constitutional rights to due process and access to the courts will be preserved. The state's interest in avoiding unproductive litigation will be honored without infringing on a property owner's constitutional rights.



The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal should be quashed and the cases remanded with instructions that a property owner is only entitled to a ruling that a taking has occurred when he has proven by competent substantial evidence that the affect of the map of reservation was to deprive him of substantial economic use of his property as a whole.

## ARGUMENT

WHETHER ALL LANDOWNERS WITH PROPERTY INSIDE THE BOUNDARIES OF INVALIDATED MAPS OF RESERVATION UNDER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED TO RECEIVE PER SE DECLARATIONS OF "TAKING" AND JURY TRIALS TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.

### I. INTRODUCTION.

In the early 1980's, the Florida Legislature provided FDOT with a planning tool for future highway construction by enacting the map of reservation statute codified at §337.241, Florida Statutes (1985). The statute allowed FDOT to file a map in the public records that delineated future transportation corridors. Upon the filing of a map, local governments were prohibited from issuing development orders for construction within the boundaries of the designated corridor for a period of five years. §337.241(2), Florida Statutes (1985). The map was effective for five years, unless withdrawn. The statute had an administrative challenge provision. §337.241(3), Florida Statutes (1985).

Even in its earliest form, the map of reservation statute provided for two exemptions from its restrictions, renovations of existing commercial structures of less than 20% of the appraised value of the structure and renovation or improvement of existing residential structures as long as they are used as private residences. §337.241(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

In 1985, the legislature amended the map of reservation statute to allow expressway authorities created under Chapter 348 to file maps of reservation. Chapter 85-149, §2, Laws of Florida. After numerous maps were filed by both FDOT and the Expressway Authorities pursuant to the statute, this Court addressed the facial constitutionality of the statute in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990). ("Joint Ventures II")

This Court found the map of reservation statute to be unconstitutional:

We do not question the reasonableness of the state's goal to facilitate the general welfare. Rather we are concerned here with the means by which the legislature attempts to achieve that goal. Here, the means are not consistent with the constitution.

Id. at 626. This Court held that the map of reservation statute constituted an exercise of the state's police power "with a mind toward property acquisition." Id. at 627. Joint Ventures II had the affect of voiding all maps of reservation filed in the State of Florida as of July 27, 1990, the date this Court's opinion became final.<sup>1</sup> The opinion did not discuss the statutory exemptions.

Subsequent to this Court's opinion in Joint Ventures II, numerous property owners have filed inverse condemnation claims

---

<sup>1</sup> The legislature has recently repealed the map of reservation statute. Chapter 92-152, §108, Laws of Florida.

against the FDOT and Expressway Authorities based upon invalidated maps of reservation. The first appellate case addressing an inverse condemnation compensation claim based on Joint Ventures II, was Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W & F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, LTD, 582 So.2d 790 (5th DCA), review denied 591 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1991). W & F Agrigrowth has been interpreted as holding that Joint Ventures II entitles every property owner to a jury trial on compensation, regardless of the amount of damages. Other appellate cases subsequent to W & F Agrigrowth have followed W & F Agrigrowth without any independent analysis in the opinion. Seminole County Expressway Authority v. Bullet, 595 So.2d 105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) [affirming the trial court's granting of summary judgment for a "taking" of residential property<sup>2</sup>]; Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. West 50 LTD., 591 So.2d 682 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. West Orange Nurseries, 590 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); and, Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. Orange North Associates, 590 So.2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); ["Whether any damages flowed from the taking in the instant case, thus entitling compensation to be awarded to the landowner, is to be determined by a jury."].

The suits filed in these two cases are representative of the inverse condemnation claims made in the suits arising from Joint

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner has filed a Request to Take Judicial Notice of the briefs filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal contemporaneously with this Initial Brief.

Ventures II. The claim is simply that (1) this Court found in Joint Ventures II that a "taking" had occurred, (2) a map of reservation touched their property, therefore they are entitled to compensation. This argument has been successfully made in both of these cases and the property owner has not been required to prove anything further prior to the trial court finding that a "taking" has occurred and ordering a jury trial on valuation. Such an interpretation of this Court's opinion in Joint Ventures II is an unwarranted extension of regulatory takings jurisprudence and exposes the state to payment of unnecessary attorneys fees and costs.

This Court addressed a facial challenge to the statute in Joint Ventures II. The cases being filed now are claiming compensation for the effect a map had on their property as it was applied to their property. These "as applied" map of reservation cases fall into four distinct categories. The first type are ones where the property is used as a residence or is developed commercially and the proposed renovation does not exceed 20% of the appraised value of the structure. These are the uses exempted from regulation by the statute. A second category is property that was developed to its highest and best use prior to the filing of a map of reservation.

The third type of case is the type in which these two cases on appeal fall. In this type of case, the area of the property encompassed by the map of reservation is, at this time, unknown and

the current use of the property has not been proven. In addition, it has not been determined whether the property owner had any verifiable intent and capacity to develop or whether the map of reservation actually frustrated the property owner's actual attempts at development.

The fourth and final category of cases are the situations where the map of reservation covers a substantial portion of the vacant property that was in the process of being developed and the property owner can prove by competent substantial evidence that his attempts to develop the property were actually frustrated by the filing of the map of reservation.

The property owners in these inverse condemnation cases allege that they own property, a portion of which was encompassed within an invalidated map of reservation. The property owners argue that this Court's ruling in Joint Ventures II entitles them to an automatic finding that a "taking" of their property occurred during the effective dates of the map of reservation without any further inquiry, and that they are then entitled to a jury trial to determine damages, whether substantial or nominal.

The property owner's interpretation of Joint Ventures II not only violates the express holding of Joint Ventures II but is wholly unsupported by regulatory takings caselaw from any state or federal jurisdiction. No court, including this Court and the United States Supreme Court has adopted a per se entitlement to

compensation for regulations invalidated for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. "A use restriction which fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest may result in a "taking." Joint Ventures II, 563 So.2d at 625, footnote 9. [emphasis supplied] "...[A] use restriction on real property may constitute a "taking" if not reasonably necessary to the effectuation of a substantial public purpose...." Penn Central, 438 U.S. at 127 [emphasis supplied].

II. NO COURT HAS ADOPTED A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION RULE FOR REGULATORY TAKINGS THAT FAIL TO SUBSTANTIALLY ADVANCE A LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST.

A. THIS COURT IN JOINT VENTURES II DID NOT ADOPT A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION.

A reading of the majority opinion in Joint Ventures II indicates that the Court was not dealing with a claim for compensation. This Court specifically stated it was not addressing a claim for compensation, but focused its analysis on a constitutional challenge to the statutory mechanism. Joint Ventures II, 563 So.2d at 625. Because this Court expressly did not rule on the question of compensation for the property owner in Joint Ventures II, this Court's ruling in Joint Ventures II should not be stare decisis (or any other form of controlling precedent) that every property owner is entitled to compensation.

Counsel for A.G.W.S. and DUNDEE have argued that even though this Court did not deal with compensation in Joint Ventures II,

this Court did find in Joint Ventures II that a "taking" occurred, and because the takings clause is "self executing," everyone whose property was touched by a map of reservation is entitled to compensation. While A.G.W.S. and DUNDEE have cited to various cases containing broad statements that compensation is required when a "taking" is found, A.G.W.S. and DUNDEE have not cited to one case which awards compensation to a property owner solely on the basis that the regulation is facially unconstitutional for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest.

Every case in regulatory takings jurisprudence that awards compensation to a property owner analyzes the extent of deprivation of economic use caused by the regulation prior to awarding compensation. That is precisely the standard enunciated by this Court in Joint Ventures II when a property owner claims entitlement to compensation:

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