## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA-HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY, MAR 1 1993 DLERK, SUPREME COURE By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

SID J. WHITE

, H

Petitioner,

Case No. 80,656

ν,

A.G.W.S. CORPORATION, and DUNDEE DEVELOPMENT GROUP,

Respondents.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS A.G.W.S. <u>CORPORATION & DUNDEE DEVELOPMENT GROUP</u> (CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL)

 S. Cary Gaylord, Esquire
Marc I. Sachs, Esquire
S. William Moore, Esquire
Alan E. DeSerio, Esquire
BRIGHAM, MOORE, GAYLORD, WILSON, ULMER, SCHUSTER & SACHS
777 S. Harbour Island Blvd.
Suite 900
Tampa, FL 33602
813/229-8811
Attorneys for Respondents

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is not a "regulatory takings" case. The imposition of a map of reservation which freezes property in its current state for ten (10) years is an act of "eminent domain." Government acquisition of private property interests for the purpose of furthering a public project or enterprise is an exercise of the power of eminent domain <u>requiring</u> full compensation therefor. Art. X, Sec. 6(a), Fla. Const.; Fifth Amendment, U.S. Const.

Regulatory takings cases assume a valid exercise of the police power. When such a regulation affects private property, the usual inquiry is the <u>economic effect</u> of the regulation. Does it "go too far"? An extensive body of case law has been developed by this Court and the United States Supreme Court which analyzes the economic effect of valid regulations on an *ad hoc* basis to determine if a regulatory "taking" has occurred. These cases are constitutionally and analytically distinct from "freezing" cases. Traditionally, our common law decisions unmask regulatory freezing schemes, exposing them as guileful attempts to acquire private property by legislation without paying for that property.

The Joint Ventures decision, Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transp., 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990) (Joint Ventures, Inc. "II"), carefully analyzed the state's map of reservation statute, Sec. 337.241(2)(3), Fla. Stat. (1988), for what it actually was. This Court took pains to express the important distinction between acts of the police power (regulatory) and

actions in the nature of eminent domain (*de facto* condemnation). The map of reservation was clearly exposed as an <u>acquisition</u> by government for a public project. Such an acquisition of private property interests <u>must</u> entail the payment of full compensation to the owner singled out thereby.

The instant case involves the imposition of an identical map of reservation onto the private lands of the Respondents, A.G.W.S. Corporation and Dundee Development Group. By freezing development on both properties, the Petitioner, Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority, sought to use the map of reservation legislation as a device to hold down future acquisition costs of the proposed Northwest Hillsborough Expressway project. A separate *ad hoc* determination need not be made in every case where the legislation has been implemented since this Court has expressly held the identical legislative device to be an exercise of eminent domain, that, when <u>actually implemented</u> as here, will give rise to a claim for compensation.

Assuming arguendo, the implementation of this map of reservation was not an act of eminent domain as held in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* "*II*", the imposition of this legislative freeze would still be a "taking" requiring compensation. The United States Supreme Court has held repeatedly that legislation is void on its face as an uncompensated <u>taking</u>, without an *ad hoc* economic inquiry, if the regulation <u>either</u> fails to substantially advance a <u>legitimate</u> state interest <u>or</u>, by its terms, denies the affected landowner all reasonable economic use of his or her property.

This Court found in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* "*II*", that the act of reserving private property for public use, in the guise of a mere regulation, was <u>not</u> legislation in the furtherance of

a "legitimate state interest." An uncompensated seizure of a private property interest for a public enterprise by means of legislation or regulation is also recognized by the United States Supreme Court as not a "legitimate" state interest. Thus, by definition, a <u>taking</u> has occurred with the implementation of an admittedly "illegitimate" act upon the property of these landowners. Once a "taking" has been found by the court, compensation must be paid, at least for the duration of the invalid act.

Policy reasons advanced to withhold the right to compensation, such as the possibility of windfalls to affected citizens or the specter of payment of attorneys' fees to nominally successful litigants, are irrational and ineffective. Irrational, because the existing law in Florida protects the government from spurious, non-meritorious claims and penalizes landowners and their attorneys for litigating nominal claims. Ineffective, because the constitutional protections of the Fifth Amendment and Article X, Section 6(a) of Florida's organic law cannot be avoided or evaded by arguments that violations of such protections will cost the government money.

The policy reasons requiring compensation for temporary, illegal takings are strong, however. In addition to the unambiguous language of both State and Federal Constitutions <u>mandating</u> compensation for the public's seizure of private property, government must have some economic disincentive to avoid enacting such "guises" as the map of reservation statute herein. Otherwise, the government simply plays a game of enactment-litigation-invalidation-amendment and then further litigation. Our citizenry and our constitutions cannot be so abused.

### I. NATURE OF THE CASE: EMINENT DOMAIN OR REGULATORY TAKING

### A. Joint Ventures Analysis

The issue decided in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* "II", 563 So. 2d at 622, was that the map of reservation statute, subsections 337.241(2) and (3), was unconstitutional in that it permitted "the state to take private property without just compensation," in violation of both "the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article X, Section 6(a) of the Florida Constitution."<sup>1</sup> Id. at 623.

In Joint Ventures, Inc. "II", this Court clearly announced that a "thinly veiled attempt to 'acquire' land by avoiding the legislatively mandated procedural and substantive protections of Chapters 73 and 74" is plainly unconstitutional. The statutory freeze is unconstitutional, according to this court's decision because the development moratorium <u>is</u> <u>really an exercise in eminent domain, not a police power exercise</u>.

Unless this distinction between a valid exercise of the police power and an exercise of the sovereign's power of eminent domain is understood at the outset, legal analyses can be hopelessly confused and misdirected. The government and its amici travel lengthy roads in analyzing when a valid regulation "goes too far" and results in an *ad hoc* taking. They bitterly assail a "*per se*" rule "unfairly" and "unprecedentedly" engrafted onto the current body of regulatory takings law. The problem is, of course, that Petitioner's statement of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Please note that the Florida constitutional violation which expressly dealt with Art. X, Sec. 6(a), was the "takings" clause which requires "full compensation" and not the "equal protection" or "due process" clauses found in other sections of our constitution. Please also note that this Court rephrased the question certified by the District Court, effectively eliminating the questions of due process and equal protection. *Joint Ventures, Inc.* "*II*", 563 So. 2d at 623, n.1.

issue and its subsequent analysis have nothing at all to do with the constitutional issue at stake in *Joint Ventures, Inc. "II*", nor in the instant case. This case, like *Joint Ventures, Inc.* 

"II", is a de facto state action in <u>eminent domain</u>.

In Joint Ventures, Inc. "II", Justice Barkett, for the majority, took pains to distinguish

"regulation under the police power from acquisition under the power of eminent domain.

Joint Ventures, Inc. "II", beginning at 624-627.

Our inquiry requires that we determine whether the statute is an appropriate regulation under the police power, as DOT asserts, <u>or</u> whether the statute is merely <u>an attempt to circumvent the constitutional and statutory protections</u> <u>afforded private property ownership under the principles of eminent domain</u>. *Joint Ventures, Inc. "II*", at 625 (emphasis supplied).

Although regulation under the police power will always interfere to some degree with property use, compensation must be paid only when that interference deprives the owner of substantial economic use of his or her property. (Citing Agins v. City of Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255 (1980), and Penn Central Transp. Co. v. City of New York, 438 U.S. 104 (1978).)

Thus when compensation is claimed due to governmental regulation of property, the appropriate inquiry is directed to the extent of the interference or deprivation of economic use. Joint Ventures, Inc. "II", at 625 (emphasis supplied).

The power of <u>eminent domain</u>, however, is set out quite differently:

Under the <u>power of eminent domain</u>, the state has the inherent right to take private property for public use without the consent of the owner. (Citation omitted). In so doing, the state is <u>obliged to make full</u> <u>compensation</u>. *Id*. at 624 (emphasis supplied).

"Regulation is analyzed in terms of the police power, whereas <u>acquisition</u> is analyzed

in terms of the state's power of <u>eminent domain</u>." Id. at 625. In its argument in the Joint

Ventures cases, the government had argued that Sec. 337.241 was a "permissible regulatory

exercise of the state's police power because it was necessary for various economic reasons."

*Id.* at 625. This Court expressly rejected that characterization of the nature of the map of reservation statute:

Rather than supporting a "regulatory" characterization, these circumstances [reduced cost of acquisition] expose the statutory scheme as a <u>thinly veiled</u> <u>attempt to "acquire" land</u> by avoiding the legislatively mandated procedural and substantive provisions of chapters 73 and 74 [Florida's Eminent Domain Code]. *Joint Ventures, Inc. "II*", at 625. (Emphasis supplied).

## B. Acts of eminent domain versus acts of police power

This Court's analysis is supported by a long tradition in American jurisprudence.

Under the <u>police power</u>, rights of property are impaired, not because they became useful or necessary to the public, or because some public advantage can be gained by disregarding them, but because their free exercise is believed to be determined to public interests. It may be said that the state takes property by <u>eminent domain</u> because it is useful to the public, and under the <u>police power</u> because it is harmful . . . From this results the difference between the power of eminent domain and the police power, that the former (eminent domain) recognizes the right to compensation, while the latter principle does not. Prof. Ernst Freund, *The Police Power*, Sec. 511 (1904).

"There is a very clear distinction between an appropriation of private property to a public use in the exercise of the power of eminent domain, and the regulation of the use of property . . . in the exercise of the police power." *State Plant Board v. Smith*, 110 So. 2d 401, 404 (Fla. 1959). Under the power of eminent domain, when the sovereign appropriates private property or some interest therein to a public use, such a "taking, as it is called, cannot be made even by the sovereign without just compensation." *Moody v. Jacksonville T. & K. W.R. Co.*, 20 Fla. 597, 606 (Fla. 1884); *Lamar v. Jacksonville Terminal Co.*, 27 Fla. 225, 237 (Fla. 1900).

The older description of the difference between police power and eminent domain as set out by Prof. Freund (prevention of harm vs. creation of public benefit) still has vitality as noted by this Court in Graham v. Estuary Properties, 399 So. 2d 1374, 1381 (Fla. 1981); see also, Department of Agric. v. Mid-Florida Growers, Inc., 521 So. 2d 101, 103 (Fla. 1988). A refinement of that distinction, however, seems to have more widespread currency, i.e., "neutral arbiter (police power) vs. public enterprise (eminent domain)."

Government interference (with the use of private property) is based on one of two concepts - either the government is acting in its <u>enterprise</u> capacity, where it takes unto itself private resources in use for the common good, or in its <u>arbitral</u> capacity, where it intervenes to straighten out situations in which the citizenry is in conflict over land use or where one person's use of his land is injurious to others. [Citing Sax, *Taking and Police Power*, 74 Yale L.J. 36, 62, 63]. <u>Where government acts in its enterprise capacity, as where it takes land to widen a road, there is a compensable taking</u>. *Lutheran Church v. City* of New York, 316 N.E.2d 305, 310 (N.Y. 1974) (emphasis supplied).

The essence of the distinction between police power and eminent domain is that in eminent domain there is a transfer of a private property interest to the state in furtherance of a public enterprise. See Sackman, "*The Impact of Zoning and Eminent Domain Upon Each Other*," Institute on Planning and Zoning and Eminent Domain, 107, 110-111 (1971); Joseph Sax, *Taking and Police Power*, 74 Yale L.J. 36, 62, 63 (1964); 1 *Nichols on Eminent Domain*, Sec. 1.42[2] (Rev. 3d Ed. 1989).

As noted by the Court in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* "II", the instant case is not a situation where the government, in the <u>proper</u> exercise of its police power, has imposed some restriction on the use of property that was intended to advance the health, safety and welfare of the public in general. In such an instance, the validity of the provision is generally not at issue and the question is whether the regulation has denied the owner the economic beneficial use of the property to the extent that compensation should be required. In other words, whether a valid police power regulation has gone "too far," requiring the payment of compensation. Instead, this cause deals with statutory provisions enacted under the "guise" of the police power, but which, in reality were de facto "condemnation" provisions enacted to <u>specifically advance uniquely governmental functions</u>. Without dispute, we are dealing with an enactment that was intended to burden property owners for the sole purpose of providing the government with a particular benefit or advantage in the performance of a function in its "enterprise" capacity.

The United States Supreme Court has similarly recognized this distinction. In *Penn Central Transp. Co. v. City of New York*, 438 U.S. 104 (1978), the court specifically noted a category of governmental activities, burdening private property, that are usually held to constitute a "taking," that is those which may be characterized "as acquisitions of resources to **permit or facilitate uniquely public functions**." *Id.* at 128. In *Penn Central*, the court found that regulations which placed some restrictions on the use of historic landmarks did not fall within the category described above. It reached this conclusion after finding that the challenged provision "neither exploits appellants' parcel for **city purposes** nor facilitates nor arises from any **entrepreneurial** operations of the city." *Id.* at 135.

The court in *Penn Central* referred to the frequently cited<sup>2</sup> article, Joseph Sax, Takings and the Police Power, 74 Yale L. Journal 36 (1964), in support of its recognition that this type of governmental activity is generally found to constitute a "taking" for which compensation may be claimed. In that article as noted above, the author distinguishes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 112 S.Ct. 2886, 2897; 2898; 2913; 2915 (1992); Keystone Bituminous Coal Ass'n v. DeBenedictis, 480 U.S. 470, 497 (1987); Williamson Co. Regional Planning Comm'n v. Hamilton Bank, 473 U.S. 172, 200 (1985); Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp., 458 U.S. 419, 442 (1982); San Diego Gas & Elec. Co. v. City of San Diego, 450 U.S. 621, 650 (1981).

between "the role of the government as <u>participant</u> and the government as <u>mediator</u>" between competing private economic interests. "The losses to individual property owners arising from governmental activity of the first type result in a **benefit** to a government enterprise; losses arising from the second type of activity are the result of government mediating conflicts between competing private economic claims and produces no benefit to any government enterprise." *Id.* at 62.

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